NO. 18-0161

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

CHARLESTON

State of West Virginia,
Plaintiff Below, Respondent

vs.

No. 18-0161

Nickolas Lee Velez,
Defendant Below, Petitioner

On Petition for Appeal
From the Circuit Court of
Monongalia County, West Virginia
Case No. 17-F-186

BRIEF OF PETITIONER, AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

J. TYLER SLAVEY WV State Bar No. 10786 tyler@bglawhelp.com BREWER & GIGGENBACH, PLLC P.O. BOX 4206 MORGANTOWN, WV 26504 (304) 291-5800

Counsel for Petitioner

I. Statement of the Case.

Defendant Below, Petitioner, Nickolas Lee Velez,¹ was indicted by the May 2017 Grand Jury in Monongalia County, West Virginia, on two (2) Counts. Petitioner was indicted jointly with Gordon W. Swiger and John Russell Skidmore. Specifically, Count One of the Indictment charged Petitioner, and his co-defendants, with Robbery in the First Degree and Count Two of the Indictment charged Petitioner, and his co-defendants, with Conspiracy.²

¹ Hereinafter "Petitioner."

² Please see Volume I, VELEZ001-002.

After reviewing the State's initial discovery response, Petitioner believed that essentially all of the evidence which the State had gathered as part of their investigation in this matter was obtained unlawfully and should be suppressed by the Circuit Court. As such, on June 21, 2017, Petitioner filed a Motion to Suppress.³ Thereafter, the Circuit Court conducted four (4) days of evidentiary hearings regarding Petitioner's Motion to Suppress. Specifically, the Court heard testimony, and numerous exhibits were admitted into evidence, on June 27, 2017, August 7, 2017, August 8, 2017, and August 24, 2017.⁴ Additionally, on September 18, 2017, the Circuit Court heard further arguments from counsel regarding the issues presented in Petitioner's Motion to Suppress and the evidence presented during the evidentiary hearings.⁵ Below is a summary of the evidence.

On March 5, 2017, at approximately 7:25 p.m., an armed robbery took place in Morgantown, Monongalia County, West Virginia. At approximately 9:32 p.m., the victim, Brett McIntyre, contacted MECCA 911 regarding the incident.⁶ The incident took place at or near 221 Willey Street, where Mr. McIntyre resided, within the corporate limits of the City of Morgantown.⁷ Officers from the Morgantown Police Department arrived at the scene shortly after the 911 call. The victim informed the Morgantown Police Department that a jar of

³ See Defendant's Motion to Suppress, Volume I, VELEZ003-005.

⁴ The transcripts from said hearings are contained in Volumes II, III, and IV of the Appendix. As this Court will readily recognize from the transcripts, co-defendant Skidmore filed a similar motion to suppress and co-defendant Swiger ultimately joined in the motions to suppress filed by Petitioner and co-defendant Skidmore. As such, counsel for the State, counsel for Petitioner, and counsel for Petitioner's co-defendants all participated in the hearings held by the Circuit Court. Please note that the undersigned counsel was out of town on June 27, 2017, and, as such, J. Brandon Shumaker, Esquire, an attorney associated with the undersigned's firm, was counsel for Petitioner at said June 27th hearing. The undersigned was personally present as counsel for Petitioner at all other hearings and proceedings pertinent to this appeal.

⁵ The transcript from the September 18, 2017, hearing is contained in Volume V of the Appendix.

⁶ Volume I, VELEZ092 and Volume I, VELEZ057.

⁷ Volume I, VELEZ091.

marijuana was taken by the suspects. At approximately 9:40 p.m. MECCA 911 issued a "be on the lookout" or "BOLO" over all frequencies, which indicated that all units should be on the lookout for "suspects in a burglary, occurred 221 Willey Street...all units be on the lookout for three males, wearing masks, wearing black sweatshirts, one male armed with a rifle, involved in a burglary, 221 Willey Street, unknown direction of travel, occurred about 5 minutes ago, end of BOLO, 21:40." Importantly, no identifying vehicle information was provided in the initial BOLO, and no information was given that a vehicle was used in the commission of the crime.

Thereafter, officers on scene began reviewing video footage which was captured by various cameras near 221 Willey Street. During said review, Morgantown Police Officer Dean Cantis viewed video footage from the building to the west of the building where the incident occurred. As a result of his review, Officer Cantis identified a vehicle which had entered the municipal parking lot adjacent to 221 Willey Street. However, Officer Cantis admitted that he could not see where the vehicle was parked, could not see the identity of any of the occupants, could not tell whether any individuals matching the description of the perpetrators either exited or entered the vehicle, and could not see the vehicle's direction of travel upon leaving the parking lot, after it was seen moving in the lot for a brief period of time. Importantly, Officer Cantis also admitted that he could not identify any license plate number on the vehicle and that he could not initially identify the make and model of the vehicle but, instead, had to rely upon a subsequent Google internet search to determine the possible make and model of the vehicle.

⁸ Volume II, Pgs. 58-59.

⁹ Volume I, VELEZ092 and Volume VI, CD4, initial BOLO.

¹⁰ Volume III, Pgs. 12-13.

¹¹ Volume IV, Pgs. 14-33.

After conducting said Google search, Officer Cantis contacted MECCA 911 and indicated that "possibly a white four-door Audi" was involved in the incident. Officer Cantis further indicated to MECCA that he was "unsure of the model, possibly an Audi A4." MECCA 911 then sent out an updated BOLO which stated that "all units be on the lookout for possible suspect vehicle, white Audi A4 model, end of update broadcast, 22:21." As such, at 10:21 p.m., on March 5, 2017, MECCA 911 had informed officers who heard the initial BOLO, and the updated BOLO, that three (3) suspects had been involved in an alleged burglary at 221 Willey Street, that they were wearing masks and black sweatshirts, that one (1) of the suspects may have been armed with a rifle, and that the suspects were traveling in a four-door white Audi, possibly an A4 model, with an unknown direction of travel.

Importantly, a review of footage from Granville Police Officer Aaron Huyett's dash-cam, which was produced after the last day of the evidentiary hearing, appears to show Officer Huyett exit his police cruiser prior to the initial BOLO. This is further supported by the fact that Officer Huyett only referred to one BOLO transmission during his testimony. As such, Petitioner submits that Officer Huyett likely only heard the updated BOLO, which simply identified a possible make and model of a suspect vehicle.

Ultimately, based solely on the information provided by MECCA 911, Officer Huyett stopped a white Audi A4, being operated by co-defendant John Skidmore near Mile Marker

¹² Volume VI, CD4, Morgantown Police Department radio traffic "from initial dispatch to 23:59" at 7:05 of the recording. Officer Cantis is identified as Unit 652 on said recording.

¹³ Id., at 7:19.

¹⁴ Volume VI, CD4, updated BOLO on municipality frequency.

¹⁵ Volume VI, CDS5, 6 & 7.

¹⁶ Volume II, Pgs. 33-34.

151.5, on Interstate 79 Southbound, at approximately 10:45 p.m.¹⁷ Sgt. Slagle from the Granville City Police Department assisted in the stop.¹⁸ There were four (4) individuals in the subject vehicle at that time, namely, the driver John Skidmore, and three (3) passengers; Nickolas Velez, Gordon Swiger and Anthony Jimenez.¹⁹ It is undisputed that Interstate 79 is not within the corporate limits of the Town of Granville or within the corporate limits of the City of Morgantown. Officer Huyett further admitted that he did not even try to effectuate a stop within Granville's jurisdiction.²⁰ Importantly, Officer Huyett did not personally witness the subject vehicle commit any traffic violations, nor did Officer Huyett witness any crimes being committed by any of the occupants in the subject vehicle. Although officers from the Monongalia County Sheriff's Department arrive much later at the scene of the stop, as detailed below, the State explicitly conceded that at the time the subject vehicle was stopped, there were no officers from the Monongalia County Sheriff's Department present at the scene.²¹ In fact, the State specified that "Officer Huyett was solely responsible for [the] stop[.]"²²

Furthermore, the State agreed with Petitioner and characterized the stop as "extra-jurisdictional, investigative stop." Never once did the State even attempt to argue that the stop was conducted by officers with jurisdiction at the scene. As such, the subject vehicle was stopped by Granville Police Officer Huyett outside of the corporate jurisdiction of the Town of Granville based solely upon information conveyed to Officer Huyett by MECCA 911 via BOLO.

¹⁷ Said vehicle is hereinafter, at times, referred to as the "subject vehicle."

¹⁸ Volume II, Pg. 29, lines 5-11.

¹⁹ Volume II, Pgs. 22-25 and 63.

²⁰ Volume II, Pg. 26.

²¹ Volume V, Pg. 19.

²² Volume V, Pg. 16.

²³ Volume I, VELEZ042.

Immediately after stopping the subject vehicle, Officer Huyett conducted a felony traffic stop. ²⁴ It is undisputed that at the time of the stop of the subject vehicle, neither Officer Huyett, nor any other law enforcement officer, had an arrest warrant for any of the occupants of the vehicle. ²⁵ Additionally, neither Officer Huyett, nor any other police officer, had a search warrant to search the subject vehicle at the scene of the stop outside of the corporate limits of the Town of Granville. ²⁶ In fact, the State argued that at the time the subject vehicle was stopped, the officers did not have probable cause to make an arrest. ²⁷ The State further conceded that the stop was an investigative detention along the lines of Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968). ²⁸

After the stop, Officer Huyett ordered each of the four (4) occupants in the vehicle, one (1) by one (1), to get out of the vehicle, and walk backwards towards his police cruiser. At that point, each individual was handcuffed, and placed into police cruisers.²⁹ Officer Huyett testified that Petitioner obeyed all of his commands at the scene of the stop, that Petitioner was calm, and that within 45 seconds to a minute, Petitioner had been placed into a police cruiser.³⁰ Officer Huyett confirmed that Petitioner did not say anything directly to him at the scene.³¹ Officer Huyett further confirmed that once the subject vehicle was stopped, that all four (4) occupants were being detained and were not free to go.³² Thereafter, each of the four (4) suspects was

²⁴ Volume II, Pg. 15.

²⁵Volume II, Pg. 32.

²⁶ Id.

²⁷ Volume V, Pgs. 21-22

²⁸ Volume V, Pg. 17.

²⁹ See Volume VI, CD4 and Volume II, Pgs. 32-35.

³⁰ Volume II, Pgs. 45-46.

³¹ Volume II, Pg. 47.

³² Volume II, Pgs. 37-38.

transported to the Morgantown Police Department, in separate police cruisers.³³ As such, within minutes of the stop, all four (4) occupants of the vehicle were being detained, the scene was completely secure, and no exigent circumstances existed.³⁴

Ultimately, Gordon Swiger, John Skidmore, Petitioner Nickolas Velez, and Anthony Jimenez, were transported back to the Morgantown Police Department for questioning. Representatives from the Morgantown Police Department first interviewed Gordon Swiger. Mr. Swiger's interview began at 0017 hours, or 12:17 a.m. on March 6, 2017. Mr. Swiger did not provide any substantive information during his interview. Despite not obtaining any substantive information from Mr. Swiger, the Morgantown Police Department informed Mr. Swiger that he was being arrested at the end of his interview. As such, the Morgantown Police Department very clearly believed that probable cause existed to arrest individuals they believed were involved in the incident prior to interviewing Mr. Jimenez, Mr. Skidmore or Petitioner.

The police then proceeded to interview Mr. Jimenez at 0059 hours on March 6, 2017.³⁸ It is undisputed that Mr. Jimenez provided no incriminating statement and that he had no information regarding the incident which had taken place on March 5, 2017. As such, Mr. Jimenez was not charged with having committed any crimes.³⁹

Contemporaneously, other officers with the Morgantown Police Department were preparing a search warrant regarding the subject vehicle. Specifically, Morgantown Police

³³Volume II, Pgs. 38-39.

³⁴ Volume I, VI, CD1, 5, 6 & 7.

³⁵ Volume I, VELEZ126.

³⁶ Volume III, Pg. 64.

³⁷ Volume III, Pg. 65 and Volume VI, CD3.

³⁸ Volume II, Pg. 69, line 23.

³⁹ Volume II, Pgs. 63-64.

Officer Robert Meador prepared the Affidavit and Complaint for Search Warrant.⁴⁰ The suspects reported to the Morgantown Police Department at approximately 11:00 p.m. on March 5, 2017.⁴¹ Officer Meador began preparing the search warrant documents (i.e. the Affidavit and Complaint for Search Warrant) within a few minutes of the suspects arriving at the police station.⁴² Officer Meador estimated that it took twenty (20) minutes to prepare the search warrant documents.⁴³ Thereafter, Monongalia County Magistrate James Nabors signed the search warrant at approximately 1:30 a.m. on March 6, 2017.⁴⁴ Accordingly, as of 1:30 a.m., a Magistrate was clearly available who could arraign the suspects on the charges at issue in this case.

Despite the availability of a Magistrate, and after determining that probable cause existed to arrest Gordon Swiger almost an hour earlier, representatives of the Morgantown Police Department proceeded to interview Mr. Skidmore at 0139 hours. During his interview, Mr. Skidmore confessed to committing the robbery at issue in this case and further indicated that co-Defendants Gordon Swiger and Nickolas Velez were involved in the same. At the conclusion of his interview, the police informed Mr. Skidmore that he was being arrested.

Finally, representatives from the Morgantown Police Department interviewed Petitioner, Nickolas Velez, at 0227 hours on March 6, 2017. Importantly, Detective Trejo readily admitted that the purpose of speaking with Petitioner was to get him to confess and admit his

⁴⁰ Volume I, VELEZ101-103.

⁴¹ Volume III, Pg. 40, lines 8-11.

⁴² Volume III, Pg. 48, lines 12-18.

⁴³ Volume III, Pg. 40, lines 15-17.

⁴⁴ Volume III, Pg. 14, lines 13-22.

⁴⁵ Volume I, VELEZ098 and Volume II, Pg. 69, line 24.

⁴⁶ See Volume VI, CD8.

⁴⁷ See Volume VI, CD8.

⁴⁸ Volume I, VELEZ099 and Volume II, Pg. 69, line 24.

involvement in the robbery.⁴⁹ During Petitioner's interview, he admitted to being involved in the robbery at issue in this case. At the conclusion of Petitioner's interview, the police informed Petitioner that he was being arrested.⁵⁰

After the conclusion of said evidentiary hearings, and presentation of the evidence outlined above, the Circuit Court permitted Petitioner, Petitioner's co-defendants, and the State, to submit additional briefings regarding Petitioner's Motion to Suppress. Petitioner filed a Memorandum in Support of Motion to Suppress on September 1, 2017.⁵¹ In said Memorandum Petitioner presented numerous arguments. First, Petitioner argued that Granville Police unlawfully stopped the subject vehicle outside of the corporate jurisdiction of the Town of Granville.⁵² Second, Petitioner argued that Granville Police did not have reasonable suspicion to stop the subject vehicle.⁵³ Third, Petitioner argued that his statement to the Morgantown Police Department on March 6, 2017, must be suppressed because a) Petitioner's rights under the prompt presentment rule were violated; b) Petitioner was incapable of waiving his constitutional rights due to intoxication⁵⁴; and c) the Waiver of Rights Form utilized by the Morgantown Police Department is unconstitutional.⁵⁵

Thereafter, the State filed a "Response in Opposition to the Defendants' Various Motions to Suppress" on September 10, 2017. ⁵⁶ Importantly, the State's Response, once again, makes

⁴⁹ Volume II, Pgs. 115-117.

⁵⁰ See Volume VI, CD2.

⁵¹ See Volume I, VELEZ009-033.

⁵² Volume I, VELEZ018-023

⁵³ Volume I. VELEZ024-026.

⁵⁴ Petitioner has since abandoned this argument. As such, Petitioner is not asserting, in this appeal, that he was incapable of waiving his constitutional rights due to intoxication.

⁵⁵ Volume I, VELEZ026-032.

⁵⁶ See Volume I, VELEZ034-046. As this Court will readily recognize, the State filed one (1) response which addressed the issues presented in Petitioner's Motion to Suppress, and Petitioner's subsequent memorandum, and

clear that Officer Huyett conducted the initial stop and that Sgt. Slagle, also of the Granville police department, was the only other officer present when Officer Huyett ordered the suspects out of the subject vehicle. ⁵⁷ In fact, the State's response readily concedes that the stop at issue was an "extra-jurisdictional, investigative stop." ⁵⁸ At no point in the State's Response does the State even attempt to argue that the stop was conducted by officers from the Monongalia County Sheriff's Department, or any other officers, with jurisdiction over the scene where the stop occurred. ⁵⁹ Subsequently, Petitioner filed a Reply to the State's Response to Defendants' Various Motions to Suppress on September 13, 2017. ⁶⁰

On September 18, 2017, after all briefing regarding Petitioner's Motion to Suppress had been completed, the Circuit Court heard argument from counsel for the parties. Importantly, at this hearing, the State again conceded "that at the time the vehicle was stopped no Sheriff's Department units were present." The State also argued that at the time the subject vehicle was stopped, the officers did not have probable cause to make an arrest. As such, the State argued that officers, acting as private citizens outside of their jurisdiction, have authority to make an investigative stop pursuant to Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968). Once again, at no point did the State even attempt to argue that the stop took place when jurisdictional officers were present. Petitioner submits that the reason the State did not make

which addressed the similar motions and memorandum filed Petitioner's co-defendants.

⁵⁷ Volume I, VELEZ036-037.

⁵⁸ Volume I, VELEZ042.

⁵⁹ Importantly, the State's concession that the stop was an extra-jurisdictional, investigative stop, is directly at odds with the Circuit Court's attempt to describe the stop at a joint stop made by Granville police officers and officers from the Monongalia County Sheriff's Department. Petitioner submits that the Circuit Court has misconstrued the facts

⁶⁰ See Volume I, VELEZ047-055.

⁶¹ Volume V, Pg. 19, lines 8-10.

⁶² Volume V, Pgs. 21-22

such an argument is because any logical interpretation of the facts leads the same conclusion: the subject vehicle was stopped by an officer, acting as a private citizen outside of his jurisdiction, without probable cause, to conduct an investigation.

On or about September 25, 2017, in proceedings which, unfortunately, do not appear to have been a part of the official record in this matter, the Circuit Court informed the parties that Petitioner's Motion to Suppress, and the similar motions filed by Petitioner's co-defendants were being denied in their entirety. As a result of the Circuit Court informing Petitioner that his Motion to Suppress was being denied, Petitioner reached a Conditional Plea Agreement with the State. Specifically, on September 26, 2017, the Circuit Court accepted a proposed "Conditional Plea Agreement" which was entered into by the State and Petitioner. Pursuant to the terms of the Conditional Plea Agreement, Petitioner entered a conditional guilty plea to the felony offense of Burglary, a lesser-related offense as to that charged in Count One of the Indictment, and to the felony offense of Conspiracy, as charged in Count Two of the Indictment. The Plea Order specifically provides that the plea entered into by Petitioner was "conditional" in nature, pursuant to West Virginia Criminal Procedure Rule 11(a)(2), and that Petitioner reserved the right to seek appellate review of the Circuit Court's "forthcoming Order Denying the Defendant's 'Motion to Suppress[.]"

Thereafter, almost three (3) months later, on December 15, 2017, the Circuit Court finally entered an Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence.⁶⁵ In the Order, the Circuit

⁶³ See Plea Order, Volume I, VELEZ073-077.

⁶⁴ Volume I, VELEZ075.

⁶⁵ Volume I, VELEZ056-072. At times, the Circuit Court's Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence is referred to herein simply as the "Order."

Court found that the stop of the subject "vehicle outside of the jurisdiction of the Town of Granville was not illegal." This incorrect finding was, in large part, based upon the Circuit Court's erroneous conclusion that the investigatory stop was performed in presence of Monongalia County Sheriff deputies, 67 despite the fact that the State readily conceded, on multiple occasions, that no Monongalia County Sheriff deputies were present when the subject vehicle was stopped, and the State itself characterized the stop as a "extra-jurisdictional, investigative stop." The Circuit Court also found that Petitioner did not have standing the challenge the validity of the search of the subject vehicle, despite the fact that Petitioner was not arguing that the search, in and of itself, was unlawful. 8 The Circuit Court further found that Petitioner's statement to the Morgantown Police Department was admissible. More specifically, the Circuit Court found that the Statement of Rights form utilized by the Morgantown Police Department was valid, that Petitioner was not intoxicated to the point that his statement was involuntary, and that Petitioner's rights under the prompt presentment rule were not violated. 69

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