3IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINI

NO. 18-0161

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

NICKOLAS LEE VELEZ,

v.

Defendant Below, Petitioner.



ON APPEAL FROM
THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MONONGALIA COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA
CRIMINAL ACTION NO. 17-F-186

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

SHANNON FREDERICK KISER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
W. Va. Bar Number 12286
812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor
Charleston, WV 25301
Telephone: (304) 558-5830
Email: Shannon.F.Kiser@wvago.gov
Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A. Petitioner Lacks Standing to Challenge the Stop

As a preliminary matter, Petitioner was a passenger in Co-Defendant Skidmore's vehicle. He had no possessory or privacy interest in the vehicle or the items seized from within. Because of this, he lacks standing to challenge the constitutionality of the traffic stop. The circuit court's finding that Petitioner lacked standing to assert such a challenge is neither an abuse of discretion nor an erroneous finding of fact, and this Court should therefore refuse to review the matter further.

B. Officer Huyett's Felony Traffic Stop Was Lawful

Officer Huyett stopped Co-Defendant Skidmore's car outside of his jurisdiction after observing it within his jurisdiction of Granville and identifying it as the same vehicle referenced in a previously-dispatched BOLO call. Officer Huyett followed the car outside of his jurisdiction only because the subject crime of the BOLO call was armed robbery, and he was waiting on backup for officer safety. Once backup arrived, he effectuated the stop, but did not question Petitioner or search the vehicle, instead waiting for the Morgantown Police Department to send officers to take custody of Petitioner, his co-defendants, and Co-Defendant Skidmore's car. Multiple jurisdictions converged on the stop, including a Monongalia County Sherriff's office deputy. Thus, the stop was lawful under *State v. Horn*, although extra-jurisdictional, because Officer Huyett had a demonstrable and reasonable suspicion that the occupants of the vehicle had just committed a felony.

C. Petitioner's Confession Was Voluntary

Upon arriving at the Morgantown Police Department, Detective Trejo provided Petitioner with a Statement of Rights form, pursuant to *Miranda v. Arizona*. The form, which contained a provision informing Petitioner of his right to an attorney (and his right to have an attorney present), was sufficient to inform Petitioner of his rights. Petitioner immediately initialed that he understood his rights and then executed a signed waiver of the same. Shortly thereafter, he confessed to first degree robbery. While Petitioner alleges that the form was deficient the statement contained on the form, when read in its entirety, is unambiguous and compliant with the requirements of *Miranda*.

Thus, Petitioner engages in further tactics to undermine his confession. First, he asserts that he was too intoxicated to consent to a waiver of his rights at the time of his confession. This assertion is unsupported by any evidence within the record beyond Petitioner's own self-serving statement. Detective Trejo testified that he had no reason to believe that Petitioner was intoxicated to the point of rendering a statement involuntary. Nor did Petitioner's recorded statement show any indication that he was intoxicated. At all relevant times during the police interview, Petitioner was alert, oriented, and engaged.

Second, Petitioner attempts to utilize the prompt presentment rule to negate his confession. Between the time of the initial stop and his confession, however, only 4 1/2 hours elapsed. During this time, Petitioner was detained on-scene while awaiting transport to the Morgantown Police Department. He was not questioned while awaiting or in transit. Upon arriving at the station, Petitioner was the fourth individual questioned. There is no evidence that the delay was the result of any underhanded activity to force Petitioner to confess. Rather, police were simply investigating a crime after potential suspects were within the correct jurisdiction to

begin questioning. The only period time between Petitioner's arrest and his confession that is not expressly excluded under *Simmons* is insufficient for this Court to find that a violation of the prompt presentment rule occurred.

Legal precedent indicates that the circuit court below did not abuse its discretion when denying Petitioner's motion to suppress. And the court's factual findings are not clearly erroneous based upon the evidence contained within the record below. Thus, this Court should affirm Petitioner's conviction on appeal.

V.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court has previously held:

When reviewing a ruling on a motion to suppress, an appellate court should construe all facts in the light most favorable to the State, as it was the prevailing party below. Because of the highly fact-specific nature of a motion to suppress, particular deference is given to the findings of the circuit court because it had the opportunity to observe the witnesses and to hear testimony on the issues. 106

Thus, "the circuit court's factual findings are reviewed for clear error." And "the action of a trial court in admitting or excluding evidence in the exercise of its discretion will not be disturbed by the appellate court unless it appears that such action amounts to an abuse of discretion." ¹⁰⁸

107 Id

¹⁰⁶ Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Lacy, 196 W. Va. 104, 468 S.E.2d 719 (1996).

¹⁰⁸ Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Calloway, 207 W. Va. 43, 528 S.E.2d 490 (1999).

B. Petitioner Lacks Standing to Challenge Officer Huyett's Felony Stop of Co-Defendant Skidmore's Vehicle.

Below, the circuit court specifically found that Petitioner lacked standing to challenge the constitutionality of Officer Huyett's felony stop, because he had no privacy interest in the car stopped or the items seized. Petitioner merely addresses this finding in passing, and refuses to classify the felony stop as either a search or a seizure. To have standing to assert a constitutional right against the unreasonable search and seizure of a vehicle related to a felony traffic stop, a passenger must have a property or possessory interest in the vehicle, its compartments, or the items seized therefrom. To circumvent this maxim, Petitioner skips directly to his argument that the stop was unlawful. But such an argument ignores the basic premise that to make such an argument, he must first have standing to do so. Because the circuit court found that Petitioner had no possessory interest in the vehicle subject to the stop, and no possessory interest in the items seized, its determination that Petitioner lacked standing is legally sound. Further, because Petitioner failed to proffer evidence that he did have any such interest to establish standing, the court's factual findings are not erroneous. Thus, this Court should refuse to further review the matter on appeal.

C. Assuming, arguendo, that Petitioner Established Standing to Challenge the Stop Below, Officer Huyett's Stop of Petitioner Was a Lawful Felony Stop Based Upon the Information Contained in the BOLO Dispatch from MECCA.

Based upon the information contained in the BOLO dispatch from MECCA, Officer Huyett had reasonable suspicion to perform an investigatory stop outside of his jurisdiction. "A law enforcement officer acting outside of his or her territorial jurisdiction has the same authority to arrest as does a private citizen and may make an extraterritorial arrest under those

110 See generally, id.

¹⁰⁹ State v. Brown, No. 16-0154, 2017 WL 969152 at * 2 (W. Va. 2017) (citing Syl. Pt. 2, Tadder).

circumstances in which a private citizen would be authorized to make an arrest."¹¹¹ "A police officer acting beyond his or her territorial jurisdiction retains power as a private citizen to make an arrest when a felony has been committed and the officer has reasonable grounds to believe the person arrested has committed the crime."¹¹² This Court has further specified that an officer "may stop a vehicle to investigate if they have an articulable reasonable suspicion that the vehicle is subject to seizure or a person in the vehicle has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime."¹¹³ If articulable facts indicate that a weapon may be present during a stop, an officer may take protective precautions to prevent possible danger to himself or others.¹¹⁴

Here, Officer Huyett's stop was in direct response to a BOLO dispatch from MECCA following an armed robbery, a felony, in Morgantown, WV. Officer Huyett witnessed a white Audi A4 sedan, the same type of vehicle identified in the BOLO dispatch, carrying multiple occupants, which was also identified in the BOLO dispatch. Upon observing the vehicle (no doubt an irregular vehicle compared to domestic or less-costly imports), and knowing that the occupants could potentially be the same involved in an armed robbery, Officer Huyett wisely waited until backup was present to effectuate the stop. These facts comport with the holdings of *Gutske*, *Horn*, and *Stuart*. Thus, the circuit court's finding is neither an abuse of discretion nor based upon a clearly erroneous finding of fact.

¹¹¹ Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rel. State v. Gustke, 205 W. Va. 72, 516 S.E.2d 283 (1999).

¹¹² Syl. Pt. 15, State v. Horn, 232 W. Va. 32, 750 S.E.2d 248 (2013).

¹¹³ Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Stuart, 192 W. Va. 428, 452 S.E.2d 886 (1994) overruling in part State v. Meadows, 170 W. Va. 191, 292 S.E.2d 50 (1982).

¹¹⁴ See Syl. Pt. 6, Lacy.

D. Because Officer Huyett's Felony Stop Was Both Lawful and Based Upon a Reasonable Suspicion that Petitioner Committed a Felony, Petitioner Was Lawfully Detained at the Time of the Stop.

Moreover, Petitioner was lawfully arrested at the time of the investigatory stop, based upon Officer Huyett's reasonable suspicion that the white Audi A4 sedan was the same vehicle identified by the BOLO dispatch. If a felony has actually been committed, an officer acting outside of his jurisdiction retains arrest power. In *Horn*, this Court adopted Virginia case law which held that "a police officer 'acting beyond his territorial jurisdiction . . . nonetheless retain[s] power as a private citizen to make an arrest when . . . [a] felony ha[s] actually been committed and [the officer has] reasonable grounds for believing the person arrested . . . committed the crime." Thus, "the right to arrest in public without a warrant, based on probable cause that the person has or is about to commit a felony, is the general if not universal rule in this country." 117

For the same reasons above, Petitioner and his Co-Defendants were all lawfully arrested at the time of the stop. After Mr. Skidmore exited the vehicle and informed Officer Huyett that there was a gun in the car, Officer Huyett had more than sufficient evidence demonstrating probable cause that Mr. Skidmore's vehicle was the same vehicle previously identified leaving the scene of the armed robbery. After finding a rifle magazine (police did not yet know that the "rifle" was in fact an airsoft weapon) in plain view within the vehicle, police were well within their rights under *Horn* to detain Petitioner and his Co-Defendants until such time that an investigation could be completed. Applying *Horn*, the circuit court found that Officer Huyett had reasonable grounds to believe Petitioner and his Co-Defendants committed a crime, and that he therefore retained his police power outside of his territorial jurisdiction to affect a stop and

¹¹⁵ Horn at 46, 750 S.E.2d at 262 (citing Allen v. Lopinsky, 81 W. Va. 13, 94 S.E. 369 (1917)).

¹¹⁶ Id. (citing Tharp v. Commonwealth, 270 S.E.2d 752 (Va. 1980)).

¹¹⁷ Id. (citing Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Howerton, 174 W. Va. 801, 329 S.E.2d 874 (1985)).

arrest.¹¹⁸ Thus, the circuit court's finding is neither an abuse of discretion nor based upon a clearly erroneous finding of fact.

E. Detective Trejo's Investigation, Questioning, and Processing of Petitioner Did Not Violate the Prompt Presentment Rule.

The delay between Petitioner's arrest at approximately 10:45 P.M. on March 5, 2017, and his confession at approximately 2:30 A.M. on March 6, 2017, did not violate the prompt presentment rule. "Our prompt presentment rule contained in W. Va. Code § 62-1-5, and Rule 5(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure, is triggered when an accused is placed under arrest." "Furthermore, once a defendant is in police custody with sufficient probable cause to warrant an arrest, the prompt presentment rule is also triggered." 120

"The delay in taking a defendant to a magistrate may be a critical factor [in the totality of circumstances making a confession involuntary and hence inadmissible] where it appears that the primary purpose of the delay was to obtain a confession from the defendant."

The delay between the time of the arrest or custodial interrogation and the giving of a confession is most critical for prompt presentment purposes because during this time period custodial confinement and interrogation can be used to attempt to produce a confession."

Ordinarily, the delay in taking an accused who is under arrest to a magistrate after a confession has been obtained from him does not vitiate the confession under our prompt presentment rule."

¹¹⁸ AR Vol. I at 64-65.

¹¹⁹ Syl. Pt. 8, State v. Simmons, 239 W. Va. 515, 801 S.E.2d 530 (2017) (citing Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Humphrey, 177 W. Va. 264, 351 S.E.2d 613 (1986); Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Rogers, 231 W. Va. 205, 744 S.E.2d 315 (2013)).

¹²⁰ Id.

¹²¹ Syl. Pt. 9, id. (citing Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Persinger, 169 W. Va. 121, 286 S.E.2d 261 (1982); Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Guthrie, 173 W. Va. 290, 315 S.E.2d 397 (1984)).

¹²² Syl. Pt. 10, id. (citing Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Wickline, 184 W. Va. 12, 399 S.E.2d 42 (1990)).

¹²³ Syl. Pt. 11, *id.* (citing Syl. Pt. 4, *Humphrey*),

Importantly, time spent by officers conducting normal policework is typically not calculated as part of the delay for purposes of determining whether a violation of the prompt presentment rules occurred. "Transporting the defendant to the police headquarters or completing normal booking, processing and paperwork must not be included in the time frame of any 'delay.'" This Court also noted that a defendant being kept at the scene for legitimate law enforcement purposes is not included in calculating delay. 125

Here, Officer Huyett initiated the stop around 10:45 P.M. ¹²⁶ Morgantown police officers arrived at the stop between 11:30 P.M. and 12:00 A.M. While they awaited the arrival of the Morgantown police, neither Officer Huyett nor the other attending police questioned Petitioner and his Co-Defendants about the crime beyond requesting information related to a protective sweep, nor pressured them to confess. Shortly after arriving at the police station, Detective Trejo began questioning the suspects at 12:17 A.M. ¹²⁷ Importantly, the investigation of the armed robbery was still ongoing at this time. Police subsequently searched Petitioner's car after effectuating a lawful warrant, and Petitioner himself was questioned at approximately 2:27 A.M. ¹²⁸

The facts here could not be more distinct from the facts of *DeWeese*, which Petitioner purports is a "near identical" case. ¹²⁹ In *DeWeese*, the defendant was arrested via warrant at 4:00 A.M. and held by authorities until 5:00 P.M. ¹³⁰ A State Trooper thereafter took custody of the defendant, transported him to the local detachment, and interrogated him at 8:00 P.M., *roughly*

¹²⁴ Id., at 527, 801 S.E.2d at 542 (citing State v. Newcomb, 223 W. Va. 843, 679 S.E.2d 675 (2009)).

¹²⁵ *Id.* (citing *Wickline* at 17, 399 S.E.2d at 47).

¹²⁶ AR Vol. I at 58.

¹²⁷ AR Vol. I at 61.

¹²⁸ Id.

¹²⁹ See Pet'r's Br. at 18.

¹³⁰ State v. DeWeese, 213 W. Va. 339, 343, 213 S.E.2d 786, 790 (2003).

sixteen hours after the initial arrest.¹³¹ The defendant's statement concluded at approximately 9:30 P.M., yet he was still not presented to a magistrate until approximately 10:45 A.M. on the following morning, more than twenty-four (24) hours after his arrest.¹³² Thus, this Court found that the "facts clearly establish that the reason Mr. DeWeese was not promptly taken to a magistrate in Ritchie County was that because law enforcement officials wanted to obtain a statement from him."¹³³ Not only is the timeframe of Petitioner's case vastly dissimilar to that of DeWeese, but the surrounding facts indicate that Petitioner's confession was not the result of the four (4) hour delay between the initial stop and his confession.

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